FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/31/2023 4:36 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/31/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No: 102045-7 No. 38471-3-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

¥.

### ANTHONY RENE VASQUEZ,

Appellant.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

KEVIN J. McCRAE Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #43087

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision granting the defendant a de novo resentencing hearing. A copy of that decision is in the Appendix at pages A 1-24.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does a resentencing pursuant to an untimely CrR 7.8 motion to correct a facially invalid judgment and sentence due to offender score error open up all other sentencing issues under RCW 10.73.090?

2. Assuming the answer to the first issue is yes, does a trial court have discretion on the scope of resentencing pursuant to a CrR 7.8 motion?

## **D.** STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Anthony Vasquez was initial convicted of aggravated first degree murder for sneaking up on Juan Garcia and blasting him with a slug from a shot gun at close range while Mr. Garcia's girlfriend and her small child were in the car he was seated in.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly he was sentenced to life in prison. The Court of Appeals reversed the aggravated part of the aggravated murder conviction and remanded the case back for resentencing. State v. Vasquez, 2 Wn. App. 2d 632, 637, 415 P.3d 1205, 1207 (2018)(*Vasquez I*). Mr. Vasquez was resentenced to an aggravated sentence based on his high offender score, which included one prior conviction for possession of a controlled substance. The Court applied an interpolation to sentence Mr. Vasquez based on his offender score above 9. CP 124-127. Mr. Vasquez appealed his resentencing. An unpublished decision upholding the resentencing was filed June 20, 2019, and the mandate issued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a more detailed version of the facts of the case, see Vasquez I.

November 13, 2019. *State v. Vasquez*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1037 (2019)(*Vasquez II*). On February 25, 2021, more than a year after the mandate issued in Mr. Vasquez's case, the Supreme Court decided *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 173, 481 P.3d 521, 523 (2021), which invalidated the controlled substance conviction that made up one point of Mr. Vasquez's offender score.

The parties agreed to resentencing Mr. Vasquez with a corrected offender score. During the resentencing hearing, at the urging of both defense counsel and the State, the Court followed the reasoning of the prior sentence, only adapting it to the new offender score. Mr. Vasquez asked the Court to consider his youth in resentencing him. The trial court declined to reconsider that issue.

Mr. Vasquez again appealed. He argued that the trial court was required to provide him with what he termed a "plenary resentencing", where any issue could be raised. The State argued that the court could only correct the facially invalid part of the sentence, and even if that were not the case the trial court had discretion over the scope of the resentencing. The Court of Appeals, in an unpublished split decision, agreed with Mr. Vasquez. *State v. Vasquez*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1037 (2019) (unpublished)(*Vasquez III*). Judge Siddoway filed a concurrence/dissent, arguing that the trial court had discretion over the scope of resentencing.

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with three different lines of Supreme Court precedent. It is bound to cause significant confusion in the lower courts, disrupts finality and leaves any corrections to judgment and sentences in the lower courts open to challenge as to their scope. Review should be granted, the Court of Appeals reversed, and trial court affirmed. 1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with three lines of cases regarding the applicable standards for reviewing CrR 7.8 motions, the scope of correction of facially invalid judgment and sentences and trial court discretion on resentencing. RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2).

> a. This resentencing was the result of an untimely collateral attack. Collateral attack rules apply, both in the trial court and on appellate review. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with State v. Hubbard and State v. Molnar, among others.

In the Court of Appeals the State argued this case was an untimely collateral attack in the trial court, thus collateral attack rules applied. Mr. Vasquez argued the case was a direct appeal, thus they did not apply. The Court of Appeals ignored the issue and the distinction, relying on a direct appeal case, *State v. Edwards*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 118, 514 P.3d 692 (2022). However, the distinction is critical to the analysis of this case and most *Blake* resentencings.

"[A]ny form of postconviction relief other than a direct appeal" is known as a " 'collateral attack."" *State v. Molnar*, 198 Wn.2d 500, 508, 497 P.3d 858, 862 (2021) citing RCW

10.73.090(2). Collateral attacks filed in Superior Court are governed by CrR 7.8. *Id.* All prongs of CrR 7.8 are covered by the collateral attack time constraints, whether filed in Superior Court, the Court of Appeals, or the Supreme Court. *State v. Hubbard*, \_\_\_\_\_Wn.2d\_\_\_, \_\_\_P.3d\_\_\_(April 27, 2023)(Slip Op. at 14). A case becomes final at the time an appellate court issues its mandate. RCW 10.73.090(3)(b). In Mr. Vasquez's case, that was no later than November 13, 2019, the date the mandate issued from Mr. Vasquez's last direct appeal.

On February 25, 2021, the State Supreme Court decided State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 173, 481 P.3d 521, 523 (2021), which invalidated the controlled substance conviction that made up one point of Mr. Vasquez's offender score. Thus Mr. Vasquez's 7.8 motion was filed at least one year after his case became final. Because the sentencing court relied on the specific offender score in setting Mr. Vasquez's exceptional sentence, the State conceded his Judgment and Sentence was facially invalid and he could show prejudice, and thus agreed to a correction of his offender score and sentence.<sup>2</sup>

Under Hubbard, Molnar, CrR 7.8 and RCW 10.73.090 the trial court was bound to follow the collateral attack rules that apply when correcting a facially invalid sentence. Because the Court of Appeals was reviewing the actions of the trial court, it was also bound to use the collateral attack rules regarding the time bar under RCW 10.73.090. An appeal of a collateral attack is also a collateral attack. It makes no sense to require the trial court to follow the collateral attack rules, and then have the Court of Appeals apply direct appeal rules on the appeal from the collateral attack. The Court of Appeals based its ruling on State v. Edwards, 23 Wn. App. 2d 118, 514 P.3d 692 (2022), but ignored the fact that *Edwards* was a direct appeal case, whereas this case is a collateral attack case.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  This concession may have been error on the State's part, but the issue was not cross appealed, and is now part of the case at this stage.

Because the Court of Appeals ignored the fact that this case is an appeal from a collateral attack its decision conflicts with the line of cases regarding the rules on collateral attack, including *Hubbard* and *Molnar*.

> b. When dealing with an untimely collateral attack on a facially invalid judgment and sentence the rule is to correct the facial invalidity. It does not act as a super exception to the time bar for issues unrelated to the facial invalidity. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with In re Pers. Restraint of Adams and In re Pers. Restraint of Snivley.

In re Pers. Restraint of Adams, 178 Wn.2d 417, 421, 309

P.3d 451, 453 (2013), is on point and controlling of this issue. Adams filed a motion to vacate his Judgment and Sentence and resentence due to an offender score error. The State and the trial court agreed and resentenced Adams to a new term of confinement. Then he filed a new PRP, claiming ineffective assistance of counsel and that the new sentence reopened the time barred claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding not informing him of a plea agreement. The Court rejected the

reasoning that an invalid judgment and sentence acted a 'super exception,' opening up other time barred claims.

In *In re Pers. Restraint of Snively*, 180 Wn.2d 28, 30, 320 P.3d 1107 (2014)(per curiam) the court improperly imposed a term of community placement for one of his convictions without authority. Snively filed an untimely PRP arguing he was entitled to withdraw his plea. The court held he was limited to correcting the issue that made his judgment and sentence invalid, not opening up a time barred voluntariness issue. Notably the Court remanded for correction of his sentence, not resentencing.

Adams and Snivley stand for the proposition that when a court is faced with an untimely collateral attack on facially invalid judgment and sentence, the Court does the minimum it needs to do to correct the facial invalidity. It does not open up the judgment and sentence to time barred issues. Here the Court of Appeals, based on a facially invalid offender score error, is allowing Mr. Vasquez to raise a time barred youthful

sentencing issue, along with whatever other issues he wants regarding the sentence. This allows a prior drug offense to act as a super exception to the time bar, while a defendant who did not have a drug offense in his record would not have such an opportunity to seek relief on time barred issues. The Court of Appeals decision relies almost exclusively on direct appeal cases. *Adams* and *Snivley* specifically reject this outcome and the court of appeal decision conflicts with this line of cases.

> c. As noted in Judge Siddoway's concurrence/dissent, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with State v. Barberio, State v. Kilgore and In re Pers. Restraint of Rowland.

The Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court was required to conduct a full de novo resentencing. This conflicts with a line of cases that hold a trial court has discretion to revisit issues on a resentencing after appeal, even for cases remanded on direct appeal.

In State v. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d 48, 51, 846 P.2d 519, 521 (1993), the defendant was initially convicted of a rape in

the second degree and a rape in the third degree. The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence on the rape in the second degree charge. The Court of Appeals dismissed the rape in the third degree charge, and the State elected not to retry the defendant on the reversed charge. At resentencing the defense asked the trial court to review the exceptional sentence. The trial court declined to do so. The Court ruled that the trial court did not have to reach the exceptional sentence on the rape in the second degree charge in resentencing Mr. Barbario.

Here the Court of Appeals relegated *Barbario* to a special case, where the defendant previously enjoyed a full and fair opportunity to litigate an issue. However, Mr. Vasquez had a full and fair opportunity to ask for a mitigated sentence based on youth in his first resentencing. His first resentencing came after *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015) was decided. In *Barberio* the defendant did not challenge the exceptional sentence in his first appeal and was foreclosed from challenging it in the second appeal when the trial court did not

reconsider the issue. Mr. Vasquez had the exact same opportunity to challenge his sentence as Mr. Barberio. The distinction made by the majority opinion in the Court of Appeals fails.

Nor has that distinction been made in other cases after Barberio. In State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 32, 216 P.3d 393, 395 (2009), the Court of Appeals dismissed two counts, and affirmed five, and remanded back to the trial court for resentencing. Mr. Kilgore did not challenge his exceptional sentence. The trial court declined to revisit its exceptional sentence, and simply struck the two dismissed counts from the judgement and sentence. The Supreme Court held that Mr. Kilgore was not entitled to appeal his sentence based on the newly decided case of Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004), because the trial judge had exercised their discretion to not readdress the exceptional sentence. "We have interpreted RAP 2.5(c)(1) to allow trial courts, as well as appellate courts, discretion to

revisit an issue on remand that was not the subject of the earlier appeal." *Kilgore*, 167 Wn.2d 28 at 38. "*Barberio* thus makes clear that when, on remand, a trial court has the choice to review and resentence a defendant under a new judgment and sentence or to simply correct and amend the original judgment and sentence, that choice itself is not an exercise of independent judgment by the trial court." *Id.* At 40.

In *In re Pers. Restraint of Rowland*, 149 Wn. App. 496, 509, 204 P.3d 953, 959 (2009), *affirmed sub nom*, *State v. Rowland*, 174 Wn.2d 150, 155, 272 P.3d 242, 244 (2012), the original trial court imposed an exceptional sentence. It was later determined on collateral attack that the offender score was wrong<sup>3</sup>. The Court of Appeals stated that the factors supporting the exceptional sentence were not the subject of the collateral attack, and thus did not need to be considered on remand, and thus no need to empanel a jury to satisfy *Blakley*. Instead of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>*Rowland* predated *Adams* and *Snivley*, so those cases were not considered.

remanding for a complete de novo resentencing, the Court remanded only to consider that part of the sentence affected by the incorrect offender score. The Court did exactly that, and the Supreme Court affirmed, it did not require reopening the entire sentence.

Here the State argues that the trial court could not reopen all the facially valid parts of the sentence that were final in the judgement and sentence under *Adams* and *Snivley*. However, assuming that argument to be incorrect, the trial court still had discretion under *Barbario*, *Kilgore* and *Rowland* not to reopen all the issues surrounding the sentence. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with those cases.

- 2. The Court of Appeals decision forces a complicated question for resentencing courts, and at the same time takes aware their discretion to handle the issue. This is a significant issue of law and of public import. The Supreme Court needs to provide guidance on what entitles a defendant to a de novo resentencing. RAP 13.4(b)(3,4).
- $\parallel$

 $\parallel$ 

A criminal sentence may have many components. Any sentence may have some, none, or all of these. As a nonexhaustive list there may be a term of incarceration, a suspended sentence, conditions to that suspension, a term of community custody or supervision, conditions to that supervision, legal financial obligations (LFQ's), offense specific restrictions and no contact orders. Any of these provisions may lead to legal error or even facial invalidity of the judgement and sentence. Any correction of any of these terms could validly be called a resentencing. Appellate Courts routinely remand for correction only of the error in the sentence, not correction of every aspect of it. E.g., State v. Greenfield, 21 Wn. App. 2d 878, 889, 508 P.3d 1029, 1035 (2022)(remanded to strike community custody condition and LFQ); State v. Halverson, 176 Wn. App. 972, 979, 309 P.3d 795, 798 (2013) (remanded to correct Judgement and Sentence by striking community custody provision); *State v. Jones*, 173 Wn. App. 1030 (2013)(unpublished)(remanded for correction

of a term of community custody.); In re Pers. Restraint of Dilks, Wn. App. (May 16, 2023)(unpublished)(remanded for correction of community custody term and conditions); Matter of Amos, 1 Wn. App. 2d 578, 601, 406 P.3d 707, 719 (2017)(unpublished portion)(remanded for trial court to determine proper remedy where gross misdemeanors were ordered to be served in DOC); In re Pers. Restraint of McWilliams, 182 Wn.2d 213, 218, 340 P.3d 223, 226 (2014)(case remanded to include notation regarding community custody, dissent argued for full resentencing); In re Pers. Restraint of West, 154 Wn.2d 204, 216, 110 P.3d 1122, 1127 (2005)(remanded to delete facially invalid part of sentence.); In re Pers. Restraint Tobin, 165 Wn.2d 172, 176, 196 P.3d 670, 672 (2008) (Court inadvertently listed incorrect sentence above the allowable range, remanded for "correction of the error"). Sometimes the Court's corrections of the sentence are considered ministerial, not even requiring the presence of the

defendant. *State v. Ramos*, 171 Wn.2d 46, 48, 246 P.3d 811, 812 (2011).

While not the foundation of "our system of ordered liberty," finality of a judgment is nevertheless an important principle. *In re Pers. Restraint of Garcia-Mendoza*, 196 Wn.2d 836, 840, 479 P.3d 674 (2020) (citations omitted). There is often tension between finality and other closely held values. *In re Pers. Restraint Garcia-Mendoza*, 196 Wn.2d at 841. "The judicial branch strives to ensure that no one is judged by a fundamentally flawed process or restrained by a fundamentally flawed judgment." *Id.* "But challenges to judgments must be timely raised." *Id.*, citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 179 Wn.2d 123, 150, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

Prior to this case the trial courts had the same discretion appellate courts did on deciding the proper remedy for a collateral attack, assuming *Adams* did not apply. Now the Courts are required to conduct de novo resentencing with no

parameters on what triggers this rule. Any change in the myriad elements of a sentence can validly be called a resentencing. Why does a small change in offender score trigger a de novo resentencing? Does any other type of change in a sentence trigger a de novo resentencing where all issues are brought back to the table? These are issues trial courts are facing now. The Court of Appeals decision ignores these issues and provides no guidance. The lack of guidance was probably acceptable prior to the Court of Appeals decision in this case when trial courts had discretion to decide how broad to make a resentencing and take into account the concerns of finality. However, at the same time the Court of Appeals declared that a full resentencing is required without providing guidance on when that occurs, it also took away the trial court's discretion to control the scope of resentencing. Why the Appellate Courts still retain this discretion, but the trial courts do not, is unexplained.

These de novo resentencings are not without significant cost. As the Court of Appeals notes, this would be Mr. Vasquez's fourth sentencing procedure in this case. This means the victim's family has to go through these issues again. In addition, Mr. Vasquez now gets to raise an issue that he failed to raise in the trial court in his first resentencing, whether his conduct was substantially affected by characteristics of his youth. As time goes by this becomes more and more difficult to determine. Now defense counsel will have to retain an expert to evaluate Mr. Vasquez's youthful characteristics over a decade after the fact. The State may then have to have its own expert evaluate him.

An invalid drug conviction should not undue finality of issues unrelated to that conviction. This was the holding in *Adams* and *Snivley*. If it does, the lower courts need a rational as to why. The direct holding in *Vasquez III* is that an offender score error undoes all finality as to a sentence. Many other cases with other sentencing errors do not, i.e. *In re Pers*.

#### Restraint of McWilliams; In re Pers. Restraint of Rowland.

Presumably the other elements of a sentence, such as community custody and LFO's are also up for reconsideration in a de novo resentencing. Again, the question becomes why, and what distinguishes an offender score resentencing from a LFO or community custody resentencing that did not justify a de novo resentencing? In resentencing from a direct appeal, a defendant is entitled to the benefit of new rules as long as the case is not yet final. *State v. Ramirez*, 191 Wn.2d 732, 747, 426 P.3d 714, 721 (2018). Thus, the analysis may well be different for cases that were not final when the error was discovered. But Mr. Vasquez's case was final for over a year.

When this Court decided *Blake* it began a Washington State Criminal Justice system resentencing project that is most likely unprecedented in scope, at least in Washington, and possibly in the nation. Many of these resentencings have happened and will continue to happen in the trial courts. Guidance as to the appropriate balance between finality and correction needs to be provided to the lower courts. This case is an appropriate vehicle to provide that balance. It is a significant question of law and is a significant issue of public import. The structure of resentencings implicates finality and the rights of victims as well as defendants. The Court should grant review of this issue under RAP 23.4(b)(3,4).

## F. CONCLUSION

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