FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/29/2023 4:35 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102045-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANTHONY VASQUEZ, Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 katehuber@washapp.org waapofficemail@washapp.org

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

The Court of Appeals agreed the trial court misunderstood its discretion to consider relevant mitigating evidence and remanded for resentencing. The State seeks review of the unpublished opinion, manufacturing a nonexistent conflict with inapposite cases to argue the resentencing it *agreed* to in the trial court was improper. The opinion does not conflict with relevant cases or involve a significant constitutional question or substantial public interest. This Court should deny review.

B. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND DECISION BELOW

Mr. Vasquez asks this Court to deny the prosecution's petition seeking review of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision, dated May 2, 2023.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Should this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals opinion addressing a direct appeal from a resentencing hearing where the prosecution *agreed* to the resentencing but now abandons its agreement, reverses course, and argues Mr. Vasquez was not entitled to the very resentencing it agreed to hold?

2. Should this Court deny review of the unpublished opinion in which the Court of Appeals held resentencing was required because all members of the panel unanimously agreed the trial court did not understand its discretion, wrongly thought it was limited to replicating the prior judge's intent, and improperly refused to consider Mr. Vasquez's mitigating evidence and arguments?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2018, the trial court sentenced Anthony Vasquez to an exceptional sentence of 55 years on convictions for murder in the first degree with a firearm enhancement, unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree, and tampering with a witness. CP 53-75. The court determined Mr. Vasquez's offender score was 12, resulting in a standard range of 411-548 months. CP 55-56, 112, 118. The court applied the so-called free crimes aggravator, RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c), to impose an exceptional sentence of 600 months, concurrent to 60 months each on the two remaining counts. CP 56-58, 73-74. The court also added the 60-month firearm enhancement for a total sentence of 660 months. CP 56-58.

In 2021, Mr. Vasquez moved to vacate his sentence because the court sentenced him based on an erroneous offender score. CP 87-94. The court had included in his score a conviction for possession of a controlled substance. CP 55. However, under *Blake*, that conviction was void. 197 Wn.2d 170.

One critical fact the State glosses over in its petition is its concession in the trial court that Mr. Vasquez was entitled to resentencing. CP 95-131 (State's resentencing memorandum); RP 14-31 (agreeing resentencing is required); Br. of Resp't at 5-6 (same); State's First Statement of Additional Authorities at 2 (acknowledging concession); State's PFR at 3, 6-7 (same).

When the parties returned to the trial court for the new sentencing hearing that the State agreed was required, Judge John Antosz, who had presided over Mr. Vasquez's trial and first two sentencings, had resigned and was no longer on the bench. CP 34, 67. Judge Tyson Hill conducted the resentencing. RP 10-35; CP 132-53. Judge Hill determined the court was limited in what it could consider at the new sentencing hearing, concluding the proceeding was "just brought on pursuant to *Blake*" and was "a fairly limited resentencing hearing as far as the Court is considering it." RP 14, 23.

The prosecution convinced the court its authority at resentencing was not to determine the appropriate sentence but to "try to predict as best we can what the original sentencing judge would have done had he known the lower score." RP 22. The court agreed its discretion was "limited" and that it should "honor what Judge Antosz did being the judge who was involved in the trial, involved in the earlier sentencing." RP 32. Therefore, Judge Hill "follow[ed] what Judge Antosz I believe was trying to … impose at the last hearing." RP 32.

Although the State convinced the court that Mr. Vasquez was "limited" to addressing only "the *Blake* issue," the prosecution did not limit itself to arguments addressing the lower score. RP 32. The prosecution delivered a graphic summary of the underlying crimes. RP 21; CP 96, 101-02. It presented the victim's family to address the court. RP 23-25; CP 108-10. Finally, it attempted to play a video of parts of the crime itself, although the court rejected that request. RP 11-18.

Before the court imposed sentence, Mr. Vasquez moved the court to consider his young age at the time of the offense. Mr. Vasquez told the court he wanted to argue that his youth mitigated his conduct. RP 27. He apologized to the victim's family and explained he was only 23 years old when he committed the crime. RP 28. He asked the court to consider his youth to justify an exceptional sentence below the standard range. RP 27-29.

The court declared, "I won't allow the argument for a sentence below the standard range based on youth." RP 18. Although the court prohibited Mr. Vasquez from presenting mitigation evidence or argument about his youth, the court nevertheless concluded, "it doesn't appear that a downward departure is warranted." RP 32.

After refusing Mr. Vasquez's motion to consider an exceptional sentence below the standard range or a lower

sentence to account for his youth, the court reimposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range. CP 132-33, 137-39; RP 31-33. Judge Hill determined Mr. Vasquez's correct offender score without the void conviction was 11 and that the standard range was 411-548 months. CP 96-97, 137-39. Following Judge Antosz's reasoning, Judge Hill started with "the midpoint of the standard range" and determined "how it would have gone up had it extrapolated past 9 points." RP 33. Just as Judge Antosz added 40 months for each additional point beyond 9, so too did Judge Hill. RP 22, 32-33. Judge Hill started with 480 months as the midpoint of the 411-548 months standard range, added 80 months for the two points between the maximum guideline chart of nine and Mr. Vasquez's score of 11, and reached a sentence of 560 months. RP 33; CP 137-39. It then imposed the 60-month firearm

enhancement for a total sentence of 620 months.¹ RP 33; CP 17-39.

Judge Hill also signed findings of fact and conclusions of law identical to the two prior findings from Judge Antosz. *Compare* 40-41 (findings for first exceptional sentence), *and* CP 73-74 (findings for second exceptional sentence), *with* CP 132-33 (findings for instant exceptional sentence). Mr. Vasquez filed a direct appeal from the new judgment and sentence.² CP 154-74.

The Court of Appeals agreed Mr. Vasquez was entitled to resentencing. Slip op. majority at 16; slip opinion concurrence/dissent-in-part at 4. The panel agreed the trial court improperly refused to consider Mr. Vasquez's youth and that it erroneously believed it was bound to replicate the

¹ The court also imposed concurrent sentences of 55 months each on the two remaining counts. CP 137-39; RP 33.

² As Mr. Vasquez explains below, the State inaccurately refers to Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal from his new judgment and sentence as a collateral attack.

reasoning of the original sentencing court. Slip op. majority at 11, 14-16; slip op. concurrence/dissent-in-part at 3-4. Because the trial court did not understand its discretion, the Court of Appeals remanded for a full resentencing. Slip op. majority at 14-16; slip op. concurrence/dissent-in-part at 1-4.

The majority, following *State v. Edwards*, also properly held that Mr. Vasquez was entitled to a de novo resentencing at which the court must exercise its independent discretion. Slip op. at 9-10, 14-16 (citing *State v. Edwards*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 118, 122, 514 P.3d 692 (2022)). It recognized that because the trial court was not acting pursuant to a mandate from the Court of Appeals, its discretion was not limited. Therefore, "fairness to the offender" required the trial court to consider any argument or evidence presented. Slip op. at 10-16.

E. ARGUMENT

1. Review in this Court is unwarranted because the prosecution agreed to a resentencing below.

The State agreed to a resentencing in the trial court. On appeal, the prosecution abandoned that agreement and argued

that Mr. Vasquez's resentencing was improper. Review by this Court under these circumstances is simply not warranted.

Legions of cases hold that a defendant cannot agree to a sentencing issue and then later challenge that position on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Peltier*, 181 Wn.2d 290, 297-98, 332 P.3d 457 (2014) (defendant's express agreement to stipulated trial on charges beyond statute of limitation prevented him from challenging conviction and sentence on that ground); *In re Pers. Restraint of Shale*, 160 Wn.2d 489, 494-96, 158 P.3d 588 (2007) (defendant's agreement to offender score in plea bargain waived later challenge to sentence); *State v. Huff*, 119 Wn. App. 367, 372-73, 80 P.3d 633 (2003) (defendant's stipulation to offender score prevented him from raising same criminal conduct argument on appeal).

The same rule should apply to the State and is a basis for denying review regardless of any other argument under RAP 13.4(b). The prosecution's agreement in the trial court to the resentencing it now contests on appeal also demonstrates the

State is creating a non-existent issue for this Court, and that the actual issue on appeal was correctly resolved by the Court of Appeals.

2. The prosecution's arguments addressing untimely collateral attacks do not apply to Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal from a new judgment and sentence.

a. <u>Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal from a new judgment and</u> <u>sentence entered at a resentencing hearing the</u> <u>prosecution agreed Mr. Vasquez was entitled to is not</u> <u>restricted by rules governing collateral attacks.</u>

On April 15, 2021, less than two months after this Court

issued *Blake*, Mr. Vasquez filed a CrR 7.8 motion for relief

from judgment and requested a new sentencing hearing. CP 87-

91. The prosecution agreed Mr. Vasquez was entitled to resentencing. RP 14-31; CP 95-97.

The trial court held a resentencing and entered a new judgment and sentence on September 30, 2021. CP 134-53. This judgment and sentence properly excluded the void possession of a controlled substance conviction. CP 136. However, the trial court improperly refused to consider Mr. Vasquez's arguments and evidence that his youth mitigated his conduct. RP 18, 27-29, 31; Slip op. majority at 1, 11, 14-16; slip op. concurrence/dissent-in-part at 1-4. Mr. Vasquez filed a direct appeal from that new judgment and sentence. CP 154-74.

Despite the prosecution's agreement that Mr. Vasquez was entitled to a resentencing, it seeks this Court's review based on its changed position and new argument that Mr. Vasquez was not entitled to the resentencing. The prosecution now claims Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal from his new judgment and sentence is not a direct appeal but rather a collateral attack. The prosecution's change of position is not only wrong but gives the impression that it can seek review on a new theory that contradicts its position at trial simply because it is useful to do so on appeal. This Court should deny review.

The prosecution starts with the incorrect premise that Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal is not actually a direct appeal because the underlying action precipitating the resentencing hearing was a CrR 7.8 motion. The Court of Appeals did not ignore this issue, as the prosecution claims. *See* State's PFR at 5. Instead,

the Court of Appeals agreed Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal was, in fact, a direct appeal and rejected the prosecution's unfounded arguments.

First, the Court of Appeals referred to Mr. Vasquez's matter as an *appeal* throughout the opinion. *E.g.*, Slip op. majority at 1 ("Vasquez *appeals* from the second resentencing …") (emphasis added), *id.* at 2 ("This *appeal* is Vasquez's third.") (emphasis added), *id.* at 4 ("this third *appeal*") (emphasis added), *id.* at 16 ("this *appeal*") (emphasis added); Slip op. concurrence/dissent-in-part at 1 & 4 (referring to "this *appeal*") (emphasis added).

Second, the Court of Appeals applied cases addressing direct appeals to grant Mr. Vasquez relief and remand for resentencing. For example, the majority applied *Edwards* and other direct appeal cases to conclude that Mr. Vasquez was entitled to relief on this direct appeal and to remand for resentencing. Slip op. majority at 9 (citing *Edwards*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 118). Similarly, the concurrence applied *State v*. *Barberio*, a direct appeal case, to conclude that Mr. Vasquez was entitled to relief on this direct appeal and to remand for resentencing. Slip op. concurrence/dissent-in-part at 3-4 (citing *State v. Barberio*, 121 Wn.2d 48, 50, 846 P.2d 48 (1993)).

The prosecution's claim that Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal is actually a collateral attack and that the Court of Appeals "ignored the issue and the distinction" is simply wrong. State's PFR at 5. The Court of Appeals may not have explicitly rejected the State's theory but it did so nonetheless by applying direct appeal standards of review and relying on other direct appeal cases on point.

Mr. Vasquez's prior judgment and sentence was invalid because the court sentenced him based on a void conviction. CP 55. No portion of Mr. Vasquez's previous judgment and sentence remains, and the trial court entered a new judgment and sentence after the resentencing hearing. CP 134-53. Where a sentence is vacated, it "no longer exists as a final judgment on the merits," and the court is not bound by prior decisions on the

sentence. *State v. Harrison*, 148 Wn.2d 550, 561, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003). Thus, this matter is an appeal from Mr. Vasquez's new judgment and sentence. CP 154-74.

"Washington law broadly guarantees the right to appeal sentences, even after resentencing." *State v. Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d 106, 125, 456 P.3d 806 (2020). A direct appeal is not converted to a collateral attack because the error requiring the resentencing was originally presented in a CrR 7.8 motion. Once the court resentences a person and he appeals from a new judgment and sentence, the appeal is a direct appeal. That the prosecution now wishes it had objected to the resentencing does not change that fact.

The prosecution's repeated claims that Mr. Vasquez's direct appeal is "an untimely collateral attack" were properly rejected by the Court of Appeals and provide no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). State's PFR at 5, 8.

b. <u>The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with</u> <u>State v. Hubbard or State v. Molnar, contrary to the</u> <u>prosecution's claims.</u>

Because Mr. Vasquez filed a timely notice of appeal, statutory limitations imposed on collateral attacks are irrelevant because this is not a collateral attack. CP 154-55. The State recognizes it did not cross-appeal and agrees it conceded in the trial court Mr. Vasquez was entitled to resentencing. State's PFR at 6-7. By continuing to refer to this direct appeal from a new judgment and sentence as an untimely collateral attack, the prosecution seeks to confuse this Court about the procedural posture of the case. The Court of Appeals properly heard Mr. Vasquez's case as a direct appeal.

Further, while the State tries to manufacture a conflict between this unpublished opinion and *State v. Hubbard* and *State v. Molnar*, neither case conflicts with the Court of Appeals's opinion. State's PFR at 5-8 (citing *State v. Hubbard*, _____ Wn.2d ___, 527 P.3d 1152 (2023) and *State v. Molner*, 198 Wn.2d 500, 497 P.3d 858 (2021)). *Hubbard* addresses a trial court's statutory authority to act "*outside* a direct appeal or a timely collateral attack." 527 P.3d at 1154 (emphasis added). Mr. Vasquez's case is a timely direct appeal. *Hubbard* does not apply.

Moreover, the prosecution ignores another critical distinction between this case and *Hubbard*. In *Hubbard*, the State *objected* to the sentencing modification hearing and the State *appealed* the resulting order, challenging the trial court's authority. *Id.* at 1155-56. Here, conversely the State *conceded* the trial court must hold a resentencing. And the State did *not* cross-appeal here because, having agreed to the resentencing, it had no basis to do so.

Similarly, in *Molner*, the trial court denied the defendant's motion for resentencing, and no resentencing was held, whereas here, the prosecution *agreed* to the resentencing and the court resentenced Mr. Vasquez. 198 Wn.2d at 506. *Hubbard* and *Molner* are inapplicable to Mr. Vasquez's case, and the Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with them.

c. <u>The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with</u> <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Adams or In re Pers. Restraint</u> <u>of Snively, contrary to the prosecution's claims.</u>

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